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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-Q

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2004.

Or

¨ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM              TO             , 19     .

Commission file number: 01-14213

InterCept, Inc.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
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Georgia 58-2237359
(State or other jurisdiction of

incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer

Identification No.)

3150 Holcomb Bridge Road, Suite 200, Norcross, Georgia 30071

(Address of principal executive offices)

(770) 248-9600

(Registrant�s telephone number including area code)

N/A

(Former name, former address and former fiscal year, if changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).    Yes  x    No  ¨

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of each of the issuer�s classes of common stock, as of the latest practicable date.

Class Outstanding at July 23, 2004

Common Stock, no par value 20,608,028
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

InterCept, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share amounts)

June 30,

2004

December 31,
2003

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 11,525 $ 9,747
Restricted short term investments 122 12
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of $929 and $1,309 at June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively 23,003 28,898
Advances to SLM 6,088 3,654
Deferred tax assets 1,186 5,368
Prepaid expenses 8,285 8,462
Notes receivable 7,250
Other current assets 9,765 9,525

Total current assets 67,224 65,666

Property and equipment, net 43,153 57,913
Intangible assets, net 42,411 60,770
Goodwill 88,422 98,195
Deferred tax assets 20,611 21,483
Other noncurrent assets 12,218 20,025

Total assets $ 274,039 $ 324,052

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt $ 5,000 $ 1,127
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 14,187 30,548
Client payouts and reserves �  34,546
Deferred revenue 11,408 10,961

Total current liabilities 30,595 77,182

Long-term debt, less current portion 18,500 24,000
Deferred revenue 612 400

Total liabilities 49,707 101,582

Minority interest 339 308
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Shareholders� equity:
Preferred stock, no par value; 1,000,000 shares authorized; 100,000 and 101,444 shares issued and
outstanding at June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively 6,418 9,942
Common stock, no par value; 50,000,000 shares authorized; 20,639,549 and 20,230,980 shares issued
and outstanding at June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively 305,471 303,009
Preferred stock beneficial conversion 3,649 �  
Retained deficit (91,541) (90,774)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4) (15)

Total shareholders� equity 223,993 222,162

Total liabilities and shareholders� equity $ 274,039 $ 324,052

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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InterCept, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share data)

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

(unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited) (unaudited)
Revenues:
Financial institution services $ 52,600 $ 44,854 $ 104,097 $ 88,381
Customer reimbursements 2,967 3,707 5,831 7,968

Total revenues 55,567 48,561 109,928 96,349

Costs of services:
Costs of financial institution services 28,032 21,979 55,462 43,732
Customer reimbursements 2,967 3,707 5,831 7,968
Selling, general and administrative expenses 19,212 15,727 37,475 32,018
Depreciation and amortization 4,270 3,407 8,652 6,686

Total operating expenses 54,481 44,820 107,420 90,404

Operating income 1,086 3,741 2,508 5,945
Other (expense) income, net 1,408 (3,393) 1,881 (3,487)

Income before provision for income taxes, minority interest and
discontinued operations 2,494 348 4,389 2,458
Provision for income taxes 1,013 174 1,803 1,074
Minority interest (19) (16) (31) (29)

Income from continuing operations before discontinued operations 1,462 158 2,555 1,355

Discontinued operations
Gain (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit 51 490 (158) 765
Loss on disposal from discontinued operations net of income tax expense
of $3,156 in 2004 �  �  (3,041) �  

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 51 490 (3,199) 765
Net income (loss) before preferred dividends 1,513 648 (644) 2,120
Preferred Dividends (Note 11) �  �  (125) �  

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 1,513 648 (769) 2,120

Net income per common share:
Basic:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.01 $ 0.12 $ 0.07
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 (0.16) 0.04

Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 0.07 $ 0.03 $ (0.04) $ 0.11
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Diluted
Income from continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.01 $ 0.12 $ 0.07
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 (0.15) 0.04

Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 0.07 $ 0.03 $ (0.03) $ 0.11

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic 20,425 19,788 20,336 19,755
Diluted 21,488 20,277 21,388 20,229

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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InterCept, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net (loss) income $ (644) $ 2,120

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 8,652 6,704
Loan cost amortization 362 36
Minority interest 31 29
Deferred income tax provision 2,800 (2)
Loss on sale of property and equipment 25 37
(Gain)/loss due to changes in security value of SLM note (2,434) 3,390
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (115) �  
Equity in net loss of affiliates 19
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable, net (69) (776)
Prepaid expenses, and other current assets 1,304 2,966
Other assets (1,253) (9,417)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (9,607) 2,835
Interest accrued on notes receivable (39) 40
Deferred revenue 659 (660)

Net cash provided by operating activities 328 7,321

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (8) (1,169)
Decrease in note receivable 7,750 �  
Proceeds from sale of investments, net �  1,077
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations, net 4,850 �  
Increases in investments (99) �  
Repayments from affiliate, net �  3,210
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 268 �  
Purchases of property and equipment, net (4,286) (8,807)
Increases in capitalized software (1,358) (1,030)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 7117 (6,719)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit 8,000 55,854
Payments on notes payable and line of credit (9,500) (70,425)
Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan 138 433
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 2,174 113

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 812 (14,025)
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Net cash used in discontinued operations (5,823) (5,999)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,778 (19,422)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 9,747 24,071

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period $ 11,525 $ 4,649

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 619 $ 898

Cash paid for income taxes $ �  $ 167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated statements of cash flows.
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

InterCept, Inc. (�InterCept�), is a single-source provider of a broad range of technologies, products, and services that work together to meet the
electronic commerce and operating needs of financial institutions and other businesses. Over 2,000 of these financial institutions have contracted
with InterCept for one or more of its technologies, products, and services, which include electronic funds transfer transactions, debit card
processing, core bank processing systems, check imaging systems, data communications management networks, laser document printing and
automated mailing services, as well as services related to each of these products and systems.

During the first quarter of 2004, InterCept sold its merchant services division and has classified the division in discontinued operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. See note 2.

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Certain information and note disclosure normally included in the annual financial statements, prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, have been omitted pursuant to those rules and regulations, although InterCept believes that the
disclosures made are adequate to make information presented not misleading.

In the opinion of management, the accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all necessary adjustments and
reclassifications (all of which are of a normal, recurring nature) that are necessary for fair presentation for the periods presented. The results of
the three- and six-month periods are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full fiscal year. Please read these unaudited
consolidated financial statements in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included in InterCept�s
latest annual report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Certain items previously reported in specific financial statement captions have been reclassified to conform to this presentation.

2. Discontinued Operations

On March 22, 2004, InterCept, Inc. sold its merchant services division, InterCept Payment Solutions (�IPS�), to two different entities. InterCept
sold the outstanding member interests of Internet Billing Company, LLC (�iBill�) to Media Billing, L.L.C. (�Media Billing�), a 99%-owned
subsidiary of Penthouse International, Inc. InterCept sold the remainder of IPS, including InterCept�s merchant portfolio management business
based in Tennessee, to Solidus Networks, Inc. d/b/a Pay By Touch� (�Pay By Touch�).

The following table summarizes the components of the proceeds from the sales (before certain prepayments made in May and June 2004 as
described below):

Pay By Media Billing Division
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Touch

Cash $ 12,000,000 $ 745,251 $ 12,745,251
Short-term notes receivable 12,500,000 793,749 13,293,749
Convertible note receivable 2,500,000 �  2,500,000
Preferred stock 500,000 �  500,000
Assumption of liabilities �  22,000,000 22,000,000

Total proceeds $ 27,500,000 $ 23,539,000 $ 51,039,000

Terms of Sale to Media Billing. Media Billing purchased all of the outstanding member interests of iBill for $745,251 in cash, a $793,749
short-term note bearing an interest rate of 8% per annum and due on March 30, 2004 and assumption of a $22 million working capital deficit.
InterCept also agreed to the continuance of a $3.0 million letter of credit it had obtained to benefit First Data Merchant Services, Inc. on behalf
of iBill. Media Billing agreed to replace the letter of credit before April 20, 2004. Following the closing of the transaction, Media Billing
defaulted in its obligations to repay the note and to obtain a release of the $3.0 million letter of credit, which was subsequently drawn in full by
First Data. On May 6, 2004, Penthouse filed a Current Report on Form 8-K announcing in substance that because it believes that the potential
indemnification claims it has against InterCept might significantly exceed the approximately $3.8 million amount claimed by InterCept,
Penthouse intends to withhold payments under the iBill purchase agreement. The outstanding balance due on the note as of June 30, 2004 is
approximately $811,000. Accordingly, InterCept recorded the fair value of the note receivable of $793,749 as $0 at the purchase date and
recorded the liability for the letter of credit of $3.0 million.

6
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The sale price of iBill was subject to a final purchase price adjustment based on a determination of its working capital on the closing date. On
June 18, 2004, according to the terms of the purchase agreement, InterCept notified Media Billing of an $827,000 purchase price adjustment in
favor of InterCept. Although this amount was recorded as a component of discontinued operations, it has been fully reserved against due to
collectibility concerns. In total, Media Billing owes InterCept more than $4.6 million that InterCept is seeking to collect.

Terms of Sale to Pay By Touch. Pay By Touch, a privately held provider of biometric authentication and payment solutions, purchased the
remainder of the IPS business, including InterCept�s wholly-owned subsidiary, InterCept Payment Solutions, LLC, and InterCept�s merchant
portfolio management business based in Tennessee. The sale price for that transaction was $30.5 million, with the initial terms composed of:

� $12.0 million in cash;

� a $15.5 million note due on September 20, 2004, that was guaranteed by three Pay By Touch stockholders;

� a one year $2.5 million note that is convertible at our option into Pay By Touch preferred stock valued (as of closing) at $2.5
million; and

� shares of Pay By Touch preferred stock valued at $500,000 as of closing.

As noted above, InterCept received a note from Pay By Touch for $15.5 million, which was due and payable in two installments. In the event
that Pay By Touch paid the first installment on or before the first installment date, May 21, 2004, the amount of principal remaining outstanding
after the payment would be reduced by $3,000,000. Accordingly, at the time of sale, InterCept recorded the note at its realizable value of
$12,500,000. Pay By Touch paid the first installment on May 21, 2004 as scheduled, and, in accordance with the terms of the note, its principal
amount was reduced by $3.0 million to $9.5 million. The remaining balance was due and payable on September 20, 2004. Subsequently, on June
30, 2004, Pay By Touch paid InterCept $5.03 million, which included $4.75 million of the remaining principal balance and all accrued interest
on the note. In consideration of that payment, InterCept agreed to extend the maturity date of the remaining $4.75 million principal balance to
December 31, 2004.

InterCept received 833,333 shares (valued at $.60 per share) of Pay By Touch Series B preferred stock. InterCept also received a $2.5 million
note from Pay By Touch that is convertible into 4,167,000 shares of Pay By Touch Series B preferred stock. The note matures March 22, 2005.
Neither consideration represented significant ownership in Pay By Touch by InterCept or continuing involvement by InterCept in its
discontinued segment.

Given the transactions with Media Billing and Pay By Touch described above, InterCept�s financial statements have been presented in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles to reflect the merchant services segment as a discontinued operation for all periods
presented. Operating results of the discontinued merchant segment are summarized below. The amounts exclude general corporate overhead
previously allocated to the merchant segment.

Revenues and loss from the discontinued operations were as follows (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
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June 30, 2004 June 30, 2003 June 30, 2004 Six Months Ended
June 30, 2003

Net revenues �  15,508 12,200 32,953
Pre-tax gain from
discontinued operations �  �  115 �  
Income tax expense on
gain from discontinued
operations �  �  3,156 �  
Pre-tax loss from
discontinued operations 83 782 (915) 1,060
Income tax expense
(benefit) from
discontinued operations 32 292 (757) 295

3. Net Income Per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share is
computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the dilutive effect of outstanding stock options using the
�treasury stock� method, which is based on the average stock price for the period. The effects of anti-dilutive options have been excluded. The
weighted average number of anti-dilutive options totaled approximately 3.2 million and

7
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3.5 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Amounts shown are in thousands, except earnings per share
data.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Income from continuing operations $ 1,462 $ 158 $ 2,555 $ 1,355
Discontinued operations 51 490 (3,199) 765

Net income (loss) 1,513 648 (644) 2,120
Preferred dividends �  (125)

Net income (loss) applicable for common shareholders�basic $ 1,513 $ 648 $ (769) $ 2,120
Preferred dividends �  125

Net income (loss) applicable for common shareholders�dilutive $ 1,513 $ 648 $ (644) $ 2,120

Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share�weighted average shares outstanding 20,425 19,788 20,336 19,755
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options 329 270 327 270
Shares held in escrow to satisfy contingencies 65 65
Preferred 734 725
Contingently issuable shares subject to earnout provisions 154 139

21,488 20,277 21,388 20,229
Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.01 $ 0.13 $ 0.07
Discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 (0.16) 0.04
Net earnings (loss) $ 0.07 $ 0.03 $ (0.04) $ 0.11
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings from continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.01 $ 0.12 $ 0.07
Discontinued operations 0.00 0.02 (0.15) 0.04
Net earnings (loss) $ 0.07 $ 0.03 $ (0.03) $ 0.11

4. Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is the total of net income and all other unrealized gains (losses) on securities, net of tax. The following table sets forth
the calculation of InterCept�s comprehensive income for the periods indicated below (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
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Net income, as reported   $ 1,513      $ 648 $ (769) $ 2,120
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities, net of tax: 8 (1) 11 (8)

Comprehensive income   $ 1,521      $ 647 $ (758) $ 2,112

5. Goodwill and Intangibles

InterCept reviews the value assigned to goodwill on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if circumstances change that would more likely than
not reduce the fair value of InterCept�s reporting units below the carrying amounts. InterCept reviews its long-lived assets, including intangible
assets subject to amortization, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. An impairment is recognized when the undiscounted future cash flows estimated to be generated by the asset are not
sufficient to recover the unamortized balance of the asset. An impairment loss would be recognized based on the difference between the carrying
value and estimated fair value. The estimated fair value will be determined based on either discounted future cash flows or other appropriate fair
value methods, with the amount of any such deficiency charged to income in the current year. Estimates of future cash flows are based on many
factors, including current operating results, management�s plans with respect to operations, expected market trends and competitive influences.
InterCept also evaluates the amortization periods assigned to its intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances
warrant revised estimates of useful lives. In the fourth quarter of 2002 and the fourth quarter of 2003, InterCept recorded impairment losses of
$20.0 million and $130.7 million, respectively, related to its intangibles associated with the merchant services division. InterCept did not record
an impairment loss for the three or six months ended June 30, 2004.

Intangible assets as of June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 were as follows (in thousands):

June 30, 2004 December 31, 2003

Useful Life

in Years

Gross

Assets

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Assets

Gross

Assets

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Assets

Amortized intangible assets:
Product technology 10 $ 10,500 $ (4,144) $ 6,356 $ 12,524 $ (4,332) $ 8,192
Customer contracts and
relationships 7-20 47,416 (12,502) 34,914 56,416 (13,457) 42,959
Marketing agreement 20 �  825 (151) 674
Patented technology 10 �  9,465 (3,239) 6,226
Non-compete agreements 5 825 (172) 653 1,091 (555) 536
Domain Names 10 �  88 (15) 73

58,741 (16,818) 41,923 80,409 (21,749) 58,660

Nonamortized intangible
assets:
Trade names and trademarks indefinite 509 (21) 488 2,133 (23) 2,110

Total intangible assets $ 59,250 $ (16,839) $ 42,411 $ 82,542 $ (21,772) $ 60,770

Goodwill of approximately $9.8 million was removed from the balance sheet in the sale of IPS. Amortization expense related to intangible assets
in InterCept�s continuing operations was $1.3 million and $1.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, respectively,
and $2.6 million and $2.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and June 30, 2003, respectively. For intangible assets in discontinued
operations, amortization expense related to intangible assets was $0 and $940,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, and $0 and $1.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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As of June 30, 2004, estimated future annual amortization expense of other intangible assets is as follows:

2004 $ 5,343,511
2005 $ 5,242,969
2006 $ 5,078,843
2007 $ 4,678,486
2008 $ 3,977,572

6. Long-Term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations

Long-term debt and capital lease obligations at June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 consisted of the following (in thousands):

June 30,

2004

December 31,

2003

$60.0 million line of credit with Bank of America, interest payable at the LIBOR rate plus applicable
margins or at the Prime Rate plus applicable margins as defined (the effective LIBOR rate was
approximately 3.85% and 3.89% and the Prime Rate was approximately 4.0% as of June 30, 2004 and
December 31, 2003, respectively;) payable September 16, 2006. $ 23,500 $ 25,000
Equipment under capital lease with rates ranging from 7.86% to 20.4% �  121
Other �  6

23,500 25,127
Less current maturities (5,000) (1,127)

$ 18,500 $ 24,000
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As of June 30, 2004, InterCept had one letter of credit outstanding in the amount of $2.5 million with Bank of America that reduced the
borrowing availability on InterCept�s senior credit facility. The letter of credit related to operating leases.

7. Advances to SLM

On December 3, 2001, InterCept entered into a loan agreement with SLMsoft.com Inc., an Ontario corporation (�SLM Canada�), and
SLMsoft.com Inc., a Kansas corporation, (�SLM Kansas,� and together with SLM Canada, �SLM�). Under the loan agreement, InterCept loaned
SLM $7.0 million in exchange for cash and settlement of indemnification obligations that SLM owed to InterCept. The loan was secured by the
pledge of shares of InterCept stock. The SLM loan agreement was amended on September 30, 2002. Under the amended loan agreement,
borrowings bear interest at prime plus 2%. Interest was payable on January 2, 2003 for all interest accrued through that date, and SLM sold
30,000 of the pledged shares in January 2003, which generated $551,000 used to pay off the accrued interest and a small portion of the principal.
During the second quarter of 2003, SLM Kansas filed in Kansas for protection under the U.S. bankruptcy laws, and SLM Canada became the
subject of bankruptcy proceedings in Ontario, Canada. The loan matured on June 30, 2003, has not been repaid and is secured by 371,636 shares
of InterCept common stock.

In light of the market value of the pledged shares and the uncertainties inherent in the two bankruptcy proceedings, InterCept determined that a
loss on the SLM loan was probable as of June 30, 2003. Based on the facts known to InterCept, it estimated that loss at $3,500,000. InterCept
also determined that it was unlikely to collect approximately $250,000 in indemnification obligations and accounts receivable from SLM.
Accordingly, InterCept charged a total of $3,750,000 in the statements of operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2003 in the line item �Other
(expense) income (loss), net.�

During the first six months of 2004, the market value of the pledged shares increased. Accordingly, adjustments of $1.6 million were made to
the note receivable and were recorded to other income expense in the accompanying statement of operations. As of June 30, 2004, the balance of
the note receivable as reflected on the balance sheet was $6.1 million.

During July 2004 InterCept reached an agreement with the trustee of the SLM Kansas bankruptcy to obtain the trustee�s abandonment of any
claim to the escrowed shares in exchange for InterCept�s payment of $45,000 to the trustee, the withdrawal of InterCept�s claim in the bankruptcy
case, and the assignment by InterCept of its interest in the MICROSOLV trademark. Although this agreement is subject to the approval of the
bankruptcy court, InterCept currently believes that such approval is likely, and thus that it will be able to foreclose on the escrowed shares and
offset the value of those shares against the $7.2 million that SLM remains obligated to pay as of June 30, 2004.

8. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities. Interpretation No. 46 addresses
consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities, which are entities that either (a) do not have equity investors with voting rights
or (b) have equity investors that do not provide sufficient financial resources for the entity to support its activities. The interpretation is effective
immediately for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46
(revised December 2003), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (FIN 46(R)). FIN 46(R), among other things, defers the effective date of
implementation for certain entities. The revised interpretation became effective for InterCept for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, with the
exception of structures that are commonly referred to as special-purpose entities, for which the statement became effective for periods ending
after December 15, 2003. The adoption of Interpretation No. 46 has not had and is not expected to have a material impact on InterCept�s results
of operations or financial position.
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9. Contingencies

Litigation

Other than as described below, we are not a party to, and none of our material properties is subject to, any material litigation other than routine
litigation incidental to our business.

(1) InterCept, two of its officers � John W. Collins and G. Lynn Boggs � and two former officers, Scott R. Meyerhoff and Garrett M. Bender were
named as defendants in a shareholder class action lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (Civil Action No.
03-CV0567). The plaintiff sought to represent a class of individuals who purchased InterCept common stock between September 16, 2002 and
January 9, 2003. The plaintiff alleged that InterCept and the individual defendants made material misrepresentations and/or omitted to make
material disclosures throughout the class period due to their false assurances that the adult entertainment portion of the company�s merchant
services business was insignificant and their failure to disclose the impact of the implementation of new Visa regulations in November 2002.
The plaintiff alleged violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rule 10b-5 promulgated under Section 10(b), and
Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Other plaintiffs filed similar actions, and on May 2, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a motion to consolidate their
claims. On June 23, 2003, the court denied the plaintiffs� motions to consolidate. On July 11, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a new motion for
consolidation.

On April 29, 2004, InterCept and the plaintiffs entered into a Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement. Under the terms of the settlement
agreement, InterCept and its insurance carrier will pay $5.3 million to the plaintiffs and their counsel. InterCept will fund $3.95 million and its
insurance carrier will fund $1.35 million of the proposed settlement. These amounts have been placed into escrow pending settlement of the
case. On April 29, 2004, the court entered an order that consolidated all of the cases, certified the class for settlement purposes and preliminarily
approved the settlement agreement. Settlement materials have been distributed to potential members of the class and a final settlement hearing is
scheduled for August 6, 2004. Upon final approval of the settlement, the pending claims against InterCept and the individual defendants will be
dismissed without any admission of liability or wrongdoing.

(2) Also in connection with the sale of InterCept�s merchant service division described above in Note 2, InterCept agreed to indemnify Media
Billing and Pay By Touch for certain liabilities associated with pre-closing activities, and InterCept will remain subject to those risks to
some degree. Specifically, if within 180 days after closing iBill is assessed any fine, assessment or other charge from First Data Corp. or
any credit card association that relates to iBill�s processing activities in any period prior to the closing of the sale of iBill, then InterCept
will be obligated to indemnify iBill and Media Billing for those amounts. To InterCept�s knowledge, no such fine has been levied to date.
In addition, the purchase agreements provide indemnification to Media Billing and Pay By Touch or liabilities incurred in connection with
certain identified litigation matters that existed at the time of the acquisitions. Descriptions of some of the matters that are or are
potentially subject to indemnification are described below. The iBill matters are included in the $5 million indemnification limit for the
Media Billing transaction, while the matters not related to iBill are excluded from the $2 million indemnification limit for the Pay By
Touch transaction. Management does not believe that these litigation matters will have a material effect on the Company�s financial results.

(a) On September 30, 2002, Perfect10, Inc. filed a lawsuit in the Central District of California against: iBill; CCBill, LLC; Paycom Billing
Services, Inc; IMA Enterprises, Inc.; Cybertech Communications NV; Network Authentication Systems Corporation; Cavecreek Wholesale
Internet Exchange; Netpass Systems, Inc; Internet Key, Inc; and other defendants asserting causes of action for copyright infringement,
trademark infringement, violations of privacy rights, RICO, false advertising, unfair competition and related claims. The complaint seeks a
broad range of remedies, including actual damages, treble damages, an accounting of profits attributable to the allegedly infringing conduct,
injunctive relief and other remedies. Plaintiff sought recovery of unspecified millions of dollars. The plaintiff contended that iBill, which
rendered billing services in connection with certain websites, is liable under theories of secondary liability and conspiracy for the alleged
wrongdoing.
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On June 22, 2004, the court ruled on iBill�s motion for summary judgment, granting in part the motion and denying certain other parts. In
particular, the court granted iBill�s motion for summary judgment regarding the plaintiff�s claims for copyright infringement, RICO violations,
unfair competition and false and misleading advertising. The court denied iBill�s motion for summary judgment regarding the claims for
wrongful use of a registered mark and violation of rights of publicity. Subsequently, on July 12, 2004, the remaining claims were settled for an
immaterial amount, and InterCept has no further indemnification obligations related to this case.

(b) During the period it was a wholly subsidiary of InterCept, iBill received notice from the Federal Trade Commission that the FTC is
conducting an inquiry to determine whether iBill�s activities comply with the FTC Act. The FTC has requested information since January 1,
1997. InterCept acquired substantially all of the assets of Internet Billing Company, Ltd. on April 8, 2002. During the period that iBill was a
wholly owned subsidiary of InterCept, iBill cooperated fully with the FTC in its inquiry.

(c) On October 15, 2003, Edward Lipton filed a lawsuit in Broward County (Florida) Circuit Court against IPS, then an InterCept subsidiary, and
Raymond Moyer, the former chief executive officer of IPS. Lipton contends that IPS breached an oral contract by failing to provide complete
and accurate credit card chargeback information to companies owned by Lipton. Lipton further alleged claims for fraud, breach of fiduciary
duty, and unfair and deceptive trade practices. After a motion by IPS, the case was removed to the U.S. District Court for the Southern District
of Florida. IPS is vigorously defending the lawsuit. On March 3, 2004, IPS filed a motion to dismiss the action.

(d) On March 17, 2004, the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ) notified iBill that the DOJ is inquiring into activities of several internet payment
service providers (IPSPs) related to certain revised rules issued by VISA that cover IPSPs and their customers. In October 2002, iBill was among
three companies that made a joint announcement to inform and update customers on several new VISA regulations. The announcement noted
that under the new VISA regulations a registration would be required of all IPSP customers and that $500 of a $750 fee the three companies
were charging their customers was payable by the acquiring banks to VISA and the remainder was an administrative fee to banks and
processors. The DOJ has requested various documents in connection with the announcement and the fee. Counsel for iBill is handling the DOJ
matter.

(e) In April, 2004, Freya Communications, a former iBill client, sued iBill, claiming $163,984.80 in direct and consequential damages related to
multiple batching issues that caused repetitive billing of its client base. The parties have agreed to settle the case for a payment of $55,000 to
Freya.

(f) In August 2002, PayPal terminated its contract for credit card processing services with IPS (then named Electronic Payment Exchange, Inc.
and sometimes referred to as EPX) when IPS was a wholly-owned subsidiary of InterCept. Following termination of that agreement, IPS and the
settlement banks withheld monies in reserve accounts to protect against chargebacks from PayPal customer transactions. PayPal has asserted that
it was erroneously charged a penalty fee when it canceled its contract with IPS prior to the end of its term. PayPal has also asserted that these
amounts withheld for reserve accounts were improperly withheld and has claimed that it is entitled to receive interest on those funds. InterCept
does not believe that PayPal is entitled to the damages it has asserted.

(g) During December 2003, InterCept agreed in principle to settle a dispute with the former shareholders of IPS. This settlement was finalized on
May 10, 2004. Under the settlement, InterCept paid $3,650,000 to the shareholders. A new company established by these shareholders
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has assumed the lease for InterCept�s location in Phoenix, Arizona and title to all equipment located in that facility. InterCept will contribute
$400,000 to the Phoenix lease obligation over the next four years. One of the shareholders has deposited $250,000 into an escrow account to
secure payment of the lease. IPS, now owned by Pay By Touch, has licensed to the shareholders� new company the software used by IPS in
connection with its processing of transactions. The shareholders were assigned various trademarks and domain names. In connection with the
settlement, InterCept recorded a charge of $4.3 million in December 2003. InterCept determined that in the absence of that resolution, Pay By
Touch would have made an indemnification claim against InterCept under the purchase agreement. In addition, Raymond Moyer�s $2.5 million
note to InterCept has been extended for three years and is now secured by a securities trading account in which he is required to maintain at least
$3,000,000 in assets.

Other Contingencies

In connection with the sale of InterCept�s merchant service division described above in Note 2, InterCept agreed to indemnify Media Billing and
Pay By Touch for general indemnification claims related to any breaches of representations, warranties or covenants under the purchase
agreements. The maximum amount of indemnification under these provisions is $5 million under the Media Billing agreement and $2 million
under the Pay By Touch agreement, and these provisions expire 12 months after the closing date of each transaction. Management does not
believe that the fair value of those indemnification obligations will be material to the financial statements.

10. Stock Based Compensation

Stock based compensation to employees is accounted for based on the intrinsic value method under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No.
25, �Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees� (�APB 25�). Under APB 25, if the exercise price of employee stock options equals the market price
of the underlying stock on the grant date, no compensation expense is recorded. InterCept has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation� (�SFAS 123�).

Because InterCept has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123, no compensation cost has been recognized for the stock option
plans. Had compensation cost for InterCept�s stock option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant date for awards for the three
and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003 consistent with the provisions of SFAS 123, InterCept�s pro forma net income would have been as
follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended
June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net Income
Earnings from continuing operations before discontinued operations $ 1,462 $ 158 $ 2,555 $ 1,355
Discontinued operations 51 490 (3,199) 765
Preferred dividends �  �  (125)

Net income attributable to common shareholders 1,513 648 (769) 2,120
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair
value based method for all awards, net of related tax effects $ (745) $ (1,983) $ (2,108) $ (4,899)

Pro-forma 768 (1,335) (2,877) (2,779)
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Number of Basic Shares 20,425 19,788 20,336 19,755
Basic (loss) Income Per Share
Net income attributable to common shareholders 0.07 0.03 (0.04) 0.11
Pro-forma 0.04 (0.07) (0.14) (0.14)
Number of Diluted Shares 21,488 20,277 21,388 20,229
Diluted (Loss) Income Per Share
Net income attributable to common shareholders 0.07 0.03 (0.03) 0.11
Pro-forma 0.04 (0.07) (0.13) (0.14)
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11. Preferred Stock

On September 16, 2003, InterCept sold 100,000 shares of Series A preferred stock to the Sprout Group and related entities for $10,000,000. On
June 23, 2004, InterCept entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of the Series A preferred stock. Under this agreement, the holders
of the Series A preferred stock received shares of a new class of Series B preferred stock in exchange for all of the outstanding Series A shares,
which were cancelled. The terms of the previously outstanding Series A and the currently outstanding Series B preferred stock are as follows:

Series A Preferred Stock

The Series A preferred stock was convertible into InterCept common stock at a fixed price of $13.97 per share at the holder�s option at any time
after the earliest of:

� the date as of which the closing bid price of InterCept�s common stock shall have been equal to or greater than $25 per share for at
least 10 consecutive trading days;

� the fifth anniversary of the issuance date; and

� five business days prior to a liquidation of the company or the closing of:

� any merger, consolidation, reorganization or other similar transaction, approved by the majority of the board, in which InterCept
is not the surviving entity or in which securities of InterCept constituting in excess of 50% of the voting power of InterCept are
exchanged for, or changed into, cash, property or securities of another person, or

� the sale of all or substantially all of InterCept�s assets in a transaction approved by the majority of the board.

Dividends on the Series A preferred stock accrued and were payable in kind at the rates of 5% per annum through March 31, 2004, 4% per
annum from April 1, 2004 through March 31, 2005 and 3% per annum thereafter. Additionally, InterCept was required to obtain the consent of a
majority of the holders of Series A preferred stock before InterCept could take certain actions, including an amendment to InterCept�s articles of
incorporation, a sale or liquidation of the company, or an issuance of additional shares of InterCept�s capital stock, other than under existing
employee benefit plans. InterCept incurred $204,000 of expenses that were offset against the proceeds from the sale of the Series A preferred.

Series B Preferred Stock

On June 23, 2004 InterCept issued 100,000 shares of Series B preferred stock having a $100 per share liquidation preference over the common
stock in exchange for all of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock (and the accrued dividends thereon). The Series B
preferred has rights and preferences substantially similar to the Series A preferred except:

� the Series B preferred is not entitled to any preferred dividend;
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� the holders of the Series B preferred do not have the right to veto various proposed corporate actions approved by the InterCept
board of directors (including certain mergers, acquisitions and amendments to the articles of incorporation and bylaws);

� the conversion price of the Series B preferred is $10.50 per share, a reduction from the $13.97 per share conversion price of the
Series A preferred.

Non-Cash Charge to Net Income

The exchange of the Series A for Series B Preferred stock is accounted for under EITF 98-5 and 00-27. This accounting resulted in a beneficial
conversion feature in the amount of approximately $3.6 million as of the exchange date. This beneficial conversion feature will result in a
non-cash charge attributable to common shareholders that InterCept will amortize in the amount of approximately $214,600 per quarter for each
of the next 17 fiscal quarters, the end of which period is the earliest known conversion date of the Series B Preferred Stock.

The value of the Series B Preferred was calculated as its liquidation value of $10,000,000 plus the product of (x) 952,381 (the number of
common shares into which the Series B preferred stock may be converted) and (y) $6.07 (the amount by which the market price per share of
InterCept common stock on the date of the exchange exceeded the $10.50 Series B conversion price per share).

The value of the Series A Preferred was calculated as its liquidation value of $10,000,000, plus (a) the product of (x) 715,821 (the number of
shares of common stock into which the Series A was convertible) and (y) $2.60 (the difference between the Series A conversion price of $13.97
per share and the market price of InterCept common stock on the date of the exchange), and (b) $271,000 (the amount of the preferred dividends
accrued through the date of the exchange, which were extinguished as a result of the exchange).

InterCept may accelerate recognition of the entire unamortized portion of the charge in certain circumstances, including in connection with a
sale of the company.
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12. Significant Customers

Sovereign Bank (�Sovereign�) is InterCept�s largest customer. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, Sovereign accounted for
approximately $8.0 million and $15.7 million, respectively, or 15%, respectively, of InterCept�s total revenue. Sovereign did not account for any
of InterCept�s revenue during the three or six months ended June 30, 2003.
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This Item 2 is composed of seven sections:

� Recent Developments;

� Overview;

� Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements;

� Results of Operations;

� Liquidity and Capital Resources;

� Contractual Obligations; and

� Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates.

Recent Developments

Sale of Merchant Services Division in March 2004

As we have previously disclosed, on March 22, 2004, we sold our merchant services division, InterCept Payment Solutions (�IPS�), to two
different entities. We sold the outstanding member interests of Internet Billing Company, LLC (�iBill�) to Media Billing, L.L.C. (�Media Billing�), a
99%-owned subsidiary of Penthouse International, Inc. We sold the remainder of IPS, including our merchant portfolio management business
based in Tennessee, to Solidus Networks, Inc. d/b/a Pay By Touch� (�Pay By Touch�).

Terms of Sale of iBill to Media Billing. Media Billing purchased all of the outstanding member interests of iBill for $745,251 in cash, a $793,749
short-term note due March 30, 2004 and assumption of a $22 million working capital deficit. Following the closing of the transaction, Media
Billing defaulted in its obligations to repay the note and to obtain a release of a $3.0 million letter of credit held by First Data Merchant Services,
Inc. that we had obtained for the benefit of iBill. First Data subsequently drew on the letter of credit in full. In addition, the sale price of iBill
was subject to a final purchase price adjustment based on a determination of its working capital on the closing date. On June 18, 2004, according
to the terms of the purchase agreement, we notified Media Billing of an $827,000 purchase price adjustment in our favor. In total, Media Billing
owes us approximately $4.6 million that we are seeking to collect.

Terms of Sale of Remainder of IPS to Pay By Touch. Pay By Touch, a privately held provider of biometric authentication and payment solutions,
purchased the remainder of the IPS business, including our wholly-owned subsidiary, InterCept Payment Solutions, LLC, and our merchant
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portfolio management business based in Tennessee. The sale price for that transaction was $30.5 million, with the initial terms composed of:

� $12.0 million in cash;

� a $15.5 million note due on September 20, 2004, that was guaranteed by three Pay By Touch stockholders;

� a one year $2.5 million note that is convertible at our option into Pay By Touch preferred stock valued (as of closing) at
$2.5 million; and

� shares of Pay By Touch preferred stock valued at $500,000 as of closing.

As noted above, we received a note from Pay By Touch for $15.5 million, which was due and payable in two installments. In the event that Pay
By Touch paid the first installment on or before the first installment date, May 21, 2004, the amount of principal remaining outstanding after the
payment would be reduced by $3,000,000. Pay By Touch paid the first installment on May 21, 2004 as scheduled, and, in accordance with the
terms of the
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note, its principal amount was reduced by $3.0 million to $9.5 million. The remaining balance was due and payable on September 20, 2004.
Subsequently, on June 30, 2004, Pay By Touch paid us $5.03 million, which included $4.75 million of the remaining principal balance and all
accrued interest on the note. In consideration of that payment, we agreed to extend the maturity date of the remaining $4.75 million principal
balance to December 31, 2004.

In light of the sale of our merchant services division, we have accounted for the operations of that business as discontinued operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003. Accordingly, the analysis and discussion in this Item 2 focuses on the continuing operations
of our financial institutions business. Although our overall financial results for the first six months of 2004 reflect our ownership of the merchant
services business for almost all of the first quarter, investors should take the sale of that business into account in reviewing this report.

Retention in June 2004 of Investment Banker to Explore Strategic Alternatives; Settlement of Proxy Contest

On June 11, 2004, we announced that we are exploring strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value, including a possible sale of the
company, and that we have retained Jefferies & Company, Inc. as our financial advisor to assist us in doing so. In addition, we announced with
JANA Partners LLC that we had agreed to settle the then pending proxy contest and related litigation with JANA and to jointly support a panel
of director nominees for election at the 2004 annual meeting of our shareholders. Subsequently, on June 24, 2004, we announced that our annual
shareholders meeting held that day had been convened and then immediately adjourned until September 14, 2004, when it will be reconvened at
9:00 a.m. at our offices. We also announced that our board of directors had increased the size of the board from six to nine members and filled
the three vacant seats created by the expansion. For more information regarding these matters, please see our proxy materials filed with the SEC,
which are available at no charge on the SEC�s web site at http://www.sec.gov.

Exchange of Newly Issued Shares of Series B Preferred Stock for

Outstanding Shares of Series A Preferred Stock in June 2004

On September 16, 2003, we sold 100,000 shares of Series A preferred stock to the Sprout Group and related entities for $10,000,000. On June
23, 2004, we entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of the Series A preferred stock. Under this agreement, the holders of the
Series A preferred stock received shares of a new class of Series B preferred stock in exchange for all of the outstanding Series A shares, which
were cancelled. The terms of the previously outstanding Series A and the currently outstanding Series B preferred stock are as follows:

Series A Preferred Stock

The Series A preferred stock was convertible into our common stock at a fixed price of $13.97 per share at the holder�s option at any time after
the earliest of:

� the date as of which the closing bid price of our common stock shall have been equal to or greater than $25 per share for at least 10
consecutive trading days;
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� the fifth anniversary of the issuance date; and

� five business days prior to a liquidation of the company or the closing of:

� any merger, consolidation, reorganization or other similar transaction, approved by the majority of the board, in which InterCept is not the
surviving entity or in which securities of InterCept constituting in excess of 50% of the voting power of InterCept are exchanged for, or
changed into, cash, property or securities of another person, or

� the sale of all or substantially all of our assets in a transaction approved by the majority of the board.
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Dividends on the Series A preferred stock accrued and were payable in kind at the rates of 5% per annum through March 31, 2004, 4% per
annum from April 1, 2004 through March 31, 2005 and 3% per annum thereafter. Additionally, we were required to obtain the consent of a
majority of the holders of Series A preferred stock before we could take certain actions, including an amendment to our articles of incorporation,
a sale or liquidation of the company, or an issuance of additional shares of our capital stock, other than under existing employee benefit plans.
We incurred $204,000 of expenses that were offset against the proceeds from the sale of the Series A preferred.

Series B Preferred Stock

We issued 100,000 shares of Series B preferred stock having a $100 per share liquidation preference over the common stock in exchange for all
of the issued and outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock (and the accrued dividends thereon). The Series B preferred has rights and
preferences substantially similar to the Series A preferred except:

� the Series B preferred is not entitled to any preferred dividend;

� the holders of the Series B preferred do not have the right to veto various proposed corporate actions approved by our board of directors
(including certain mergers, acquisitions and amendments to the articles of incorporation and bylaws);

� the conversion price of the Series B preferred is $10.50 per share, a reduction from the $13.97 per share conversion price of the Series A
preferred.

Non-Cash Charge to Net Income

We had previously determined that the June 23, 2004 exchange of the Series A preferred stock for the shares of Series B preferred stock should
be accounted for under EITF 98-5 and 00-27. At that time, we preliminarily calculated the beneficial conversion feature to be approximately
$5.5 million. That previously determined beneficial conversion amount would have resulted in a non-cash charge to net income of $325,000 per
quarter for each of the next 17 fiscal quarters. The amount of that charge and the formula used to calculate the charge were disclosed in our press
releases regarding the exchange transaction and our Current Report on Form 8-K dated May 21, 2004 and filed on May 24, 2004.

After further analysis we continue to conclude that the exchange of Series A preferred stock to Series B preferred stock should be accounted for
under EITF 98-5 and 00-27, but have calculated the resulting beneficial conversion feature to be approximately $3.6 million. That beneficial
conversion will result in a non-cash charge attributable to common shareholders that we will amortize in the amount of approximately $214,600
per quarter for each of the next 17 fiscal quarters, the end of which period is the earliest known conversion date of the Series B Preferred Stock.

The value of the Series B Preferred was calculated as its liquidation value of $10,000,000 plus the product of (x) 952,381 (the number of
common shares into which the Series B preferred stock may be converted) and (y) $6.07 (the amount by which the market price per share of
InterCept common stock on the date of the exchange exceeded the $10.50 Series B conversion price per share).

The value of the Series A Preferred was calculated as its liquidation value of $10,000,000, plus (a) the product of (x) 715,821 (the number of
shares of common stock into which the Series A was convertible) and (y) $2.60 (the difference between the Series A conversion price of $13.97
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per share and the market price of InterCept common stock on the date of the exchange), and (b) $271,000 (the amount of the preferred dividends
accrued through the date of the exchange, which were extinguished as a result of the exchange).

We may accelerate recognition of the entire unamortized portion of the charge in certain circumstances, including in connection with a sale of
the company.

Overview

Our operations were comprised of two business segments until December 31, 2003: financial institution services and merchant services. During
the first quarter of 2004, we sold our merchant services division and now account for those financial results in discontinued operations. In our
financial institution services segment, we derive revenues primarily by providing software systems, data processing services and related
equipment and services to financial institutions. This Overview section explains how we generate and recognize revenues and also summarizes
certain other information that we believe is useful in evaluating our financial statements and performance.

Our products and services include:

� Core data processing and check imaging systems, support, maintenance and related services and software sales,

� EFT processing services,

� Data communications management and

� Equipment and product sales, services and other, including:

� Sales of banking-related equipment and complementary products and

� Equipment maintenance and technical support services
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In our service bureau operations, we generate core data processing revenues from service and processing fees based primarily on the number of
accounts and number of customer information files we service for our financial institution customers and the number of transactions we process.
We recognize these revenues as we perform the services. We also generate revenues from the licensing of our core data processing systems. We
recognize revenues for licensing these systems in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2 on �Software Revenue Recognition,� using the
residual method prescribed in SOP 98-9 issued by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We recognize software license fees
and hardware and installation revenue when we have signed a non-cancelable license agreement, installed the product and satisfied all
significant obligations to the customer. We recognize maintenance fees over the term of the maintenance period. We sell some of our software
and hardware products through five-year, sales-type lease agreements under which customers make annual installment payments. These annual
payments include the initial installation and an ongoing license fee. We recognize revenue attributable to the sale of equipment upon installation.
License and installation fees are deferred and recognized ratably over the period of the lease.

We license Renaissance Imaging® check imaging software on an in-house basis, and we generate revenues from up-front license fees and
recurring annual maintenance fees charged for this system. We recognize revenues primarily from the licensing of Renaissance Imaging in
accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, as discussed above. We also provide check processing and imaging in a service bureau environment
under which we generate recurring revenues. On a service bureau basis, we generate revenues primarily based on the volume of items processed.
We recognize this revenue as we provide the service.

We derive EFT revenues principally from processing ATM and debit card transactions. We receive a base fee for providing our ATM processing
services and an additional fee for each additional ATM and network serviced. For most of our customers, once the number of transactions
exceeds established levels for that customer, we charge additional fees for these transactions. For some debit card transactions, we receive a
portion of the interchange fees generated by our financial institution customers, and we charge a monthly fee if our customer�s transactions do
not meet a specified minimum dollar amount of transactions for a particular month. Most charges under our EFT service agreements are due and
paid monthly. During the second quarter of 2002, we began to implement a new debit card pricing structure, under which we receive a flat fee
for each transaction processed. Under this pricing structure, we do not receive a portion of the interchange fee for processing debit card
transactions. Although this change in our EFT pricing structure has reduced our per-transaction earnings from debit card processing in excess of
$50,000 per month, it has materially reduced our exposure to the changes in interchange fees that have been or may be implemented by Visa and
MasterCard. We have converted 82% of our customers to the new pricing structure. Until all of our customers are converted to flat fee pricing,
the revenues that we continue to derive from interchange fees may be affected by changes in interchange rates for debit transactions. We cannot
currently estimate what changes to the interchange rate may occur and what the potential impact to our financial results may be. See Risk
Factors � Our revenues may decrease as a result of legal actions against Visa and MasterCard.

We generate our data communications management service revenues principally from network management and from equipment configuration
services and installation. We charge a regular monthly fee on an ongoing basis for providing telecommunications connectivity and network
management. We recognize revenues from data communications management as we perform the services.

We recognize revenues from sales of equipment and complementary products at the time of shipment or, if we are responsible for installation,
upon installation of the product. We recognize maintenance and technical support service ratably over the period during which we perform the
services.

For the three months ended June 30, 2004, approximately 91% of our total revenues were recurring revenues. Recurring revenues result from
regular monthly, quarterly or annual payments by our customers for ongoing services they use in connection with their businesses and for
transaction processing of debit, ATM, credit and ACH transactions that occur under long-term agreements. These revenues do not include
conversion or de-conversion fees, initial software license fees, installation fees, hardware sales or similar activities.
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Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

We make forward-looking statements throughout this report. These statements are subject to risks and uncertainties, and we can provide no
assurances that they will prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements include assumptions as to how we may perform in the future. When we
use words like �believe,� �expect,� �anticipate,� �predict,� �project,� �potential,� �seek,� �continue,� �will,� �may,� �could,� �intend,� �plan,� �pro forma,� �estimate,� �goal,�
�strive� and similar expressions, we are making forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include some of the matters discussed in
Recent Developments above and our expectations regarding our liquidity and capital resources and our critical accounting policies. We believe
that the expectations reflected in our forward-looking statements are reasonable, but we cannot be sure that we will actually achieve these
expectations. Projections or estimates of our future performance are necessarily subject to a high degree of uncertainty and may vary materially
from actual results. In evaluating forward-looking statements, please carefully consider the various factors discussed below.

In evaluating our financial results, investors should take into account our sale of our merchant services business in March 2004. Because
we agreed to indemnify the purchasers of the merchant services division for certain liabilities, including card association fines resulting
from pre-closing activities, we will remain subject to those risks for the near future.

Risks Factors

The process of considering strategic initiatives that we announced in June 2004 may adversely affect our operational results or our stock price.

On June 11, 2004, we announced that we intended to explore strategic alternatives to enhance shareholder value, including a possible sale of the
company, and that we had retained Jefferies & Company, Inc. as our financial advisor to assist us in doing so. As long as this process continues,
our competitors and other companies will use the uncertainty regarding the possible sale of the company against us to compete to win new
business, retain existing customers and retain employees. Our employees may be distracted by the process and accordingly may be less effective
than formerly. Our management is devoting a material amount of time to the process and consequently has less time to devote to operational
matters. These and other possible negative effects of the process may harm our operational results. We can offer no assurances regarding either
how long the process may continue or its ultimate result.

Additionally, the common stock trading price has increased subsequent to the commencement of the proxy contest with JANA Partners in April
2004 and the June 2004 press release announcing that our board is exploring strategic alternatives and has retained a financial advisor to assist in
this regard. If we are unsuccessful in identifying and consummating such a strategic or sale transaction, we anticipate that any premium in our
stock price resulting from the anticipation of a strategic or sale transaction would be lost.

Fluctuations in our operating results have negatively affected the trading price of our common stock and may do so again.

Our operating results have varied in the past and may fluctuate significantly in the future because of many factors. These factors include:

�
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the possible negative impact of implementing our growth and acquisition strategies, including accounting charges and other expenses
associated with our acquisitions;

� the loss of customers or strategic relationships;

� competition and pricing pressures;

� a reduction in recurring revenues as a percentage of total revenues;

� increases in operating expenses due to launches of new products and services and to sales and marketing efforts;
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� unanticipated increases in operating expenses due to obtaining new customers and transitioning them to our services;

� our inability to accurately forecast legal expenses; and

� changes in interchange fees of MasterCard and Visa.

Many factors that affect our operating results are outside of our control. Because of these factors, it is likely that in some future period our
financial results will again fall below the expectations of securities analysts or investors. In that event, the trading price of our common stock
would likely decline, perhaps significantly.

We face risks in connection with our contract with Sovereign Bank.

In January 2003, we executed a definitive agreement with Sovereign Bank to provide Sovereign with item processing and check imaging
services. Sovereign is now our largest customer. To accommodate the Sovereign business, we have incurred substantial costs to open four new
item processing centers, expand two existing centers and add approximately 250 new employees. Sovereign has recently announced several
acquisitions. While Sovereign�s continued expansion could result in additional revenues for us, it could also require us to add additional
processing centers or capacity that are not currently in our budget.

Sovereign can terminate the agreement at any time, including upon its acquisition or for convenience. In that event, Sovereign would be required
to pay us liquidated damages. Although the amount of those damages would be significant, they may not compensate us adequately for the loss
of the business. Sovereign also has the ability to terminate the agreement without paying liquidated damages for various events of default that
include Sovereign�s reasonable belief that its prospects of receiving services from us are materially impaired due to the occurrence of a material
adverse change, as defined in the agreement. Depending on when a termination of the Sovereign agreement occurred, it could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, results of operations and financial condition.

The failure to sustain our current growth rate in our financial institutions business or to achieve expected growth rates could adversely affect
the price of our common stock.

We have experienced significant growth since our inception. This growth has resulted from both internal growth of our business and through
acquisitions we have completed. Either our internal growth rate or our total growth rate, or both, may decline in the future due to factors within
or beyond our control. Our failure to sustain our growth rates, or achieve growth rates expected by stock market analysts, could again have a
material adverse impact on the trading price of our common stock.

Because many of our competitors have significantly greater resources than we do, we may be unable to gain market share.

Because our business includes a variety of products and services, we generally face different competitors within each area of our business. In our
core banking and data processing business, we compete with numerous companies that have national operations and significant assets. Our
principal EFT competitors include regional ATM networks, regional and local banks that perform processing functions, non-bank processors and
other independent technology and data communications organizations. In each of these areas, many of our competitors have longer operating
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histories, greater name recognition and substantially greater resources than we do. If we compete with them for the same geographic market,
their financial strength could prevent us from capturing market share in those areas. In addition, the competitive pricing pressures that would
result from an increase in competition from these companies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations. Some of our competitors have established cooperative relationships among themselves or with third parties to increase their ability
to address customer needs. Accordingly, new competitors or alliances among competitors may emerge and rapidly acquire significant market
share.
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We can provide no assurances that we will be able to compete successfully with existing or new competitors. If we fail to adapt to emerging
market demands or to compete successfully with existing and new competitors, our business, financial condition and results of operations would
be materially adversely affected.

Our revenues may decrease as a result of legal actions against Visa and MasterCard.

We generate revenue from interchange fees, which are the interbank fees that merchants pay when they accept debit cards. Visa and MasterCard
set the interchange rates. Visa and MasterCard have been sued by the Department of Justice, or DOJ, for alleged violation of the Federal antitrust
laws arising out of their respective functionally identical policies of (a) not allowing members in the respective organization to issue cards
participating in the other organization�s system, and (b) prohibiting their members from issuing cards in competing systems other than Visa or
MasterCard, the largest owner/member of Visa and MasterCard. The potential impact of this litigation on us depends upon whether or not the
DOJ is successful, and if it is successful, the relief ordered by the court.

As a result of the settlement of a class action case brought by Wal-Mart and other merchants, Visa and MasterCard set new interchange rates for
debit transactions that were approximately 33% lower than previous interchange rates. While those initial changes to the interchange rate took
effect in August 2003, the settlement also allowed for a further change in the interchange rates effective April 1, 2004. As of April 2004, these
interchange rates were increased approximately 29%. We have converted 82% of our customers to a new pricing structure, under which we
receive a flat fee for each transaction. Until all of our customers are converted to flat fee pricing, the revenues that we continue to derive from
interchange fees may be affected by changes in interchange rates for debit transactions. We cannot currently estimate what changes to the
interchange rate may occur and what the potential impact to our financial results may be.

Financial institutions are subject to industry consolidation, and we may lose customers with little notice.

The banking industry is prone to consolidations that result from mergers and acquisitions. Other financial institutions that do not use our
products and services may acquire our existing customers and then convert them to competing products and services. Although we have
included in most of our contracts a charge for early termination of the contract without cause, these charges would be insufficient to replace the
recurring revenues that we would have received if the financial institution had continued as a customer.

The banking industry is highly regulated, and changes in banking regulations could negatively affect our business.

Our banking customers are subject to the supervision of several state and federal government regulatory agencies. If bank regulations change, or
if new regulations are adopted to regulate the products and services offered or used by our financial institution customers, we could suffer an
increase in the costs of providing our products and services. Moreover, if any new or revised regulations diminish the need for our services, we
could lose customers and suffer a decline in revenues.

We are subject to government and private regulation, and an increase in regulatory requirements or tax burdens could place a strain on our
business.
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Various federal and state regulatory agencies examine our operations from time to time. These agencies can make findings or recommendations
regarding various aspects of our operations, and we generally must follow those recommendations to continue our operations. If we fail to
comply with these regulations, our operations and processing revenues could be negatively affected.

Our ATM network operations are subject to federal regulations governing consumers� rights. Fees charged by ATM owners are currently
regulated in several states, and legislation regulating ATM fees has been proposed in several other states. Furthermore, we are subject to the
regulations and policies of various ATM and debit card associations and networks. If we lost our privileges to provide transaction processing
services across these networks, our revenues from ATM and debit card transaction processing would decrease significantly.

As a transaction processing company, we may be subject to state taxation of certain portions of the fees charged for our services. Application of
this tax is an emerging issue in the industry, and the states have not yet
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adopted uniform guidelines implementing these regulations. If we are required to bear all or a portion of these costs and are unable to pass these
costs through to our customers, our financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.

The loss of our chief executive officer or other key employees could have a material adverse effect on our business.

John W. Collins, our chief executive officer, has substantial experience with our operations and our industry and has contributed significantly to
our growth. Although we maintain key man life insurance on Mr. Collins and we have an employment agreement with him, our customer and
marketing relationships would likely be impaired and our business would likely suffer if we lost the services of Mr. Collins for any reason.

If our processing centers or communications network suffers a systems failure or interruption, we may face customer service issues and be liable
for damage suffered by our customers.

Our operations depend upon our ability to protect our processing centers, network infrastructure and equipment. Damage to our systems or
equipment or those of third parties that we use may be caused by natural disasters, human error, power and telecommunications failures,
intentional acts of vandalism and similar events. Although we do have data and item processing centers in several locations that serve as
back-ups for each other, we maintain only a single data communications switching facility. Interruption in our processing or communications
services could delay transfers of our customers� data, or damage or destroy the data. Any of these occurrences could result in lawsuits or loss of
customers and may also harm our reputation.

If our products and services contain errors, we may lose customers and revenues and be subject to claims for damages.

Our new products and services, and enhancements to our existing products and services, may have undetected errors or failures, or could fail to
achieve market acceptance, despite testing by our current and potential customers and by us. If we discover errors after we have introduced a
new or updated product to the marketplace, we could experience, among other things:

� delayed or lost revenues while we correct the errors;

� a loss of customers or delay in market acceptance; and

� additional and unexpected expenses to fund further product development.

Our agreements with our customers generally contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims, such as
disclaimers of warranties and limitations on liability for special, consequential and incidental damages. These provisions may not be effective
because of existing or future federal, state or local laws or ordinances, or unfavorable judicial decisions. If our products and services fail to
function properly, we could be subject to product liability claims, which could result in increased litigation expense, damage awards and harm to
our business reputation.
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Because our business involves the electronic storage and transmission of data, security breaches and computer viruses could adversely affect us.

Our online transaction processing systems electronically store and transmit sensitive business information of our customers. The difficulty of
securely storing confidential information electronically has been a significant issue in conducting electronic transactions. We may be required to
spend significant capital and other resources to protect against the threat of security breaches and computer viruses, or to alleviate problems
caused by breaches or viruses. To the extent that our activities or the activities of our customers involve the storage and transmission of
confidential information, such as banking records or credit information, security breaches and viruses could expose us to claims, litigation and
other possible liabilities. Any inability to prevent security breaches or computer viruses could also cause existing customers to lose confidence in
our systems and terminate their agreements with us, and could inhibit our ability to attract new customers.
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Technological changes may reduce the demand for our products and services or render them obsolete.

The introduction of new technologies and financial products and services can render existing technology products and services obsolete. We
expect other vendors to introduce new products and services, as well as enhancements to their existing products and services, that will compete
with our products and services. To be successful, we must anticipate evolving industry trends, continue to apply advances in technology,
enhance our existing products and services and develop or acquire new products and services to meet the demands of our customers. We may
not be successful in developing, acquiring or marketing new or enhanced products or services that respond to technological change or evolving
customer needs. We may also incur substantial costs in developing and employing new technologies. If we fail to adapt to changes in
technologies, we could lose customers and revenues, and fail to attract new customers or otherwise realize the benefits of costs we incur.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights.

We attempt to protect our software, documentation and other written materials under trade secret and copyright laws, confidentiality procedures
and contractual provisions, which afford only limited protection. Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may
attempt to copy aspects of our products or obtain and use information that we regard as proprietary. We cannot be sure that our means of
protecting our proprietary rights will be adequate or that our competitors will not independently develop similar technology.

If others claim that we have infringed their intellectual property rights, we could be liable for significant damages.

We do not believe that any of our products infringe the proprietary rights of third parties. We cannot be sure, however, that others will not make
infringement claims, and we have agreed to indemnify many of our customers against those claims. We anticipate that the number of
infringement claims will increase as the number of products and services increases and the functionality of products in different industry
segments overlaps. Any of those claims, whether with or without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and may not be
resolved on terms favorable to us.

If we fail to comply with privacy regulations imposed on providers of services to financial institutions, our business could be harmed.

As a provider of services to financial institutions, we are required to comply with privacy regulations. We are bound by the same limitations on
disclosure of the information received from our customers as apply to the financial institutions themselves. If we fail to comply with these
regulations, we could damage our customer relationships, harm our reputation and inhibit our ability to obtain new customers.

Unauthorized disclosure of merchant and cardholder data, whether through breach of our computer systems or otherwise, could expose us to
protracted and costly litigation.

We collect and store sensitive data about cardholders, including names, addresses, social security numbers, drivers license numbers, checking
and savings account numbers and payment history records, such as account closures and returned checks. In addition, we maintain a database of
cardholder data relating to specific transactions, including payment card numbers and cardholder addresses, to process the transactions and for
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fraud prevention and other internal processes. If a person penetrates our network security or otherwise misappropriates sensitive merchant or
cardholder data, we could be subject to liability or business interruption.

Hackers have in the past penetrated computer systems of payment processors. If we suffer such an attack, we may be subject to liability,
including claims for unauthorized purchases with misappropriated card information, impersonation or other similar fraud claims. We could also
be subject to liability for claims relating to misuse of personal information, such as unauthorized marketing purposes. These claims also could
result in protracted and costly litigation.

We may incur additional liabilities as the result of the sale of our merchant services division.

We have agreed to indemnify the purchasers of iBill and InterCept Payment Solutions for certain liabilities resulting from pre-closing activities,
and we will remain subject to those risks to some degree. Specifically, if at any
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time before September 19, 2004 iBill is assessed any fine, assessment, or other charge by First Data or any credit card association that relates to
iBill�s processing activities in any period prior to our sale of iBill, then we will be obligated to indemnify iBill for those amounts. In addition, we
also agreed to provide indemnification to the purchasers of iBill and InterCept Payment Solutions for liabilities incurred in connection with
certain identified litigation matters that existed at the time of the acquisitions. The amounts of any such indemnification cannot be determined at
this time, and large liabilities resulting from such indemnification could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Future sales of shares of our common stock may negatively affect our stock price.

Sales of substantial amounts of common stock in the public market, or the prospect of such sales, could adversely affect the market for our
common stock. As of June 30, 2004, we had 20,639,549 outstanding shares of common stock, outstanding options to acquire an additional
3,883,148 shares of common stock, and outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock convertible into 952,381 shares of common stock upon
the satisfaction of certain terms. Additionally, approximately 500,000 shares of common stock may be issued under our employee stock
purchase plan, and approximately 1.0 million shares may be granted in the future under our stock option plans.

Georgia law, our articles of incorporation and bylaws and some of our employment agreements contain provisions that could discourage a third
party from attempting to acquire our outstanding shares at a premium to the market price.

Some provisions of our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Georgia law make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of our
company, even if a change in control would be beneficial to our shareholders. Some of our executive officers, including Mr. Collins, have
entered into employment agreements with us that contain change in control provisions. These provisions may discourage or prevent a tender
offer, proxy contest or other attempted takeover. In addition, we have in the past and may in the future create and issue new classes of preferred
stock that have greater rights than our common stock. These superior rights may include greater voting rights, entitlement to dividends and
preferential treatment in the event of a change in control, liquidation, consolidation or other circumstances. Any shares of preferred stock that we
issue may discourage a third party from attempting to acquire our shares of common stock at a premium price.

We cannot predict every event and circumstance that may adversely affect our business and, therefore, the risks and uncertainties discussed
above may not be the only ones we face. The risks and uncertainties discussed above are in addition to those that apply to most businesses
generally. In addition, we may encounter other risks of which we are currently unaware. These additional risks may cause serious damage to
our business in the future, the impact of which we cannot estimate at this time.

Results of Operations

The following table provides the percentage of revenues represented by certain line items in our condensed consolidated statements of
operations for the periods indicated. In light of the sale of our merchant services division on March 22, 2004, we have accounted for the
operations of the merchant services business as discontinued operations for the quarters and six months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003.
Accordingly, this analysis and discussion focuses on the continuing operations of our financial institutions business.

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,
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2004 2003 2004 2003

Revenues 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0
Costs of services 55.8 52.9 55.8 53.7
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 34.6 32.4 34.1 33.2
Depreciation and amortization 7.7 7.0 7.9 6.9

Total operating expenses 98.0 92.3 97.7 93.8

Operating income 2.0 7.7 2.3 6.2
Other income, net 2.5 (7.0) 1.7 (3.6)

Income before provision for income taxes, equity in loss of affiliates, minority interest loss
of affiliates and minority interest 4.5 0.7 4.0 2.6
Provision for income taxes 1.8 0.4 1.6 1.1
Minority interest (0.0) (0.0) (0.0) (0.0)

Income from continuing operations before discontinued operations 2.6 0.3 2.3 1.4
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit 0.1 1.0 (0.1) 0.8
Loss on disposal from discontinued operations including operating results for phase-out
period, net of income tax expense 0.0 0.0 (2.8) 0.0

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.1 1.0 (2.9) 0.8

Net income before preferred dividends 2.7 1.3 (0.6) 2.2

Net income attributable to common shareholders 2.7 % 1.3 % (0.7)% 2.2

Three Months Ended June 30, 2004 Compared to Three Months Ended June 30, 2003

Revenues. Revenues increased 14.4% to $55.6 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from $48.6 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2003. The $7.0 million increase was composed of:

(a) a $7.7 million increase in financial institution income and

(b) a $740,000 decrease in customer reimbursements.
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The $7.7 million increase in financial institution income is composed of an $8.2 million increase in fee income offset by a $462,000 decrease in
hardware sales. The increase is also attributable to internal growth and not to any significant increases in prices. In addition, we gained
efficiencies in 2004 by consolidating more of our statement-rendering services into our InterCept Output Solutions division. As a result, we now
record as service fee income the revenue from those services that we would have recorded as customer reimbursements in prior years. This
change had the effect of increasing our income and decreasing our customer reimbursements. Sovereign Bank, our largest customer, accounted
for approximately $8.0 million, or 15% of revenue, during the second quarter of 2004.

Costs of Financial Institution Income. Costs of financial institution income increased 20.7% to $31.0 million for the three months ended June 30,
2004 from $25.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. The $5.3 million increase was comprised of:

(a) $6.1 million in costs related to financial institution income and

(b) a $740,000 decrease in customer reimbursements.

The $6.1 million increase in costs related to financial institution income was due primarily to a $6.3 million increase in costs associated with the
increase in service fee revenues offset by a $255,000 decrease in hardware sales costs. The increase is attributable to internal growth. A portion
of the increase in costs and the decrease in customer reimbursements is attributable to the reclassification of certain costs from customer
reimbursements to service fee costs due to the consolidation of more of our statement-rendering services into our InterCept Output Solutions
division as described above. Gross margins decreased to 44.2% for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from 47.1% for the three months
ended June 30, 2003. This decrease is mainly due to pricing pressure associated with our EFT services. Customer reimbursements decreased to
$3.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from $3.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 22.2% to $19.2 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2004 from $15.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. The most significant elements of this $3.5 million
increase were related to non-recurring legal expenses, proxy solicitor fees and costs and other proxy-related expenses, director fees, expenses
related to Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance, compensation expenses and expenses associated with our growth in revenues. Selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 34.6% for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from 32.4% for the three
months ended June 30, 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased $863,000 to $4.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004
from $3.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to purchases of property, plant and
equipment.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net increased to income of $1.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004 from expense of $3.4
million for the three months ended June 30, 2003. The increase resulted from a $1.6 million positive adjustment of the SLM note receivable due
to the increase in the value of the InterCept shares that secure the note, offset by higher net interest expense in 2004 due to a reduction of interest
income after the maturity of certificates of deposit in August 2003. We recorded the impairment of the SLM note receivable during the second
quarter of 2003, which resulted in the $3.4 million expense during that period.
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Provision (benefit) for Income Taxes. The effective tax rate for the three months ended June 30, 2004, not including discontinued operations,
was 40.6% as compared to 40.4% for the three months ended June 30, 2003. The increase in the effective rate is mainly due to the expansion of
business in states that impose higher tax rates.

Income from Continuing Operations before Discontinued Operations. As of January 1, 2004, we have classified the merchant services segment
as discontinued operations. The sale of the merchant services operations closed on March 22, 2004. We had income before provision for income
taxes, equity in loss of affiliates, minority interest and preferred dividends and discontinued operations of $1.5 million in the second quarter of
2004 compared with $160,000 for the second quarter of 2003. These earnings relate entirely to the financial institution division. The 2003 results
reflect our recording the impairment of the SLM note receivable during the second quarter of 2003, which resulted in the $3.4 million expense
during that period.
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Income from Discontinued Operations. We had income from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit, of $51,000 in the second quarter
of 2004 compared with income from discontinued operations of $490,000 for the second quarter of 2003. This $439,000 decrease is attributable
to our not owning the discontinued operations in the 2004 period. There was no income tax benefit in 2003.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2004 Compared to Six Months Ended June 30, 2003

Revenues. Revenues increased 14.1% to $109.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from $96.3 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2003. The $13.6 million increase was composed of:

(a) a $15.7 million increase in financial institution income and

(b) a $2.1 million decrease in customer reimbursements.

The $15.7 million increase in financial institution income is composed of a $16.9 million increase in fee income offset by a $1.2 million
decrease in hardware sales. The increase is also attributable to internal growth and not to any significant increases in prices. In addition, we
gained efficiencies in 2004 by consolidating more of our statement-rendering services into our InterCept Output Solutions division. As a result,
we now record as service fee income the revenue from those services that we would have recorded as customer reimbursements in prior years.
This change had the effect of increasing our income and decreasing our customer reimbursements. Sovereign Bank, our largest customer,
accounted for approximately $15.7 million, or 15% of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2004.

Costs of Financial Institution Income. Costs of financial institution income increased 18.6% to $61.3 million for the six months ended June 30,
2004 from $51.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The $9.6 million increase was comprised of:

(a) $11.8 million in costs related to financial institution income and

(b) a $2.2 million decrease in customer reimbursements.

The $11.8 million increase in costs related to financial institution income was due primarily to a $12.6 million increase in costs associated with
the increase in service fee revenues, partially offset by an $813,000 decrease in hardware sales costs. A portion of the increase in costs and the
decrease in customer reimbursements is attributable to the reclassification of certain costs from customer reimbursements to service fee costs
due to the consolidation of more of our statement-rendering services into our InterCept Output Solutions division as described above. Gross
margins decreased to 44.2% for the six ended June 30, 2004 from 46.3% for the six months ended June 30, 2003. This decrease is mainly due to
pricing pressure associated with our EFT services. Customer reimbursements decreased to $5.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004
from $8.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased 17.0% to $37.5 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2004 from $32.0 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The most significant elements of this $5.5 million increase
were related to non-recurring legal expenses, proxy solicitor fees and costs and other proxy-related expenses, director fees, expenses related to
Sarbanes-Oxley Act compliance, compensation expenses and expenses associated with our growth in revenues. Selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues increased to 34.1% for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from 33.2% for the six months
ended June 30, 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization increased $2.0 million to $8.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004
from $6.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The increase was primarily attributable to purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net increased to income of $1.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004 from expense of $3.5 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The increase resulted from a $2.4 million positive adjustment of the SLM note receivable in 2004 due to
the increase in the value of the InterCept shares that secure the note, offset by higher net interest expense in 2004 due to a reduction of interest
income after the maturity of certificates of deposit in August 2003. We recorded the impairment of the SLM note receivable during the second
quarter of 2003, which resulted in a $3.4 million expense during that period.
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Provision (benefit) for Income Taxes. The effective tax rate for the six months ended June 30, 2004, not including discontinued operations, was
41.1% as compared to 43.6% for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The decrease in the effective rate is mainly due to the impact of permanent
items, such as meals and entertainment.

Income from Continuing Operations before Discontinued Operations. As of January 1, 2004, we have classified the merchant services segment
as discontinued operations. The sale of the merchant services operations closed on March 22, 2004. We had income before provision for income
taxes, equity in loss of affiliates, minority interest and preferred dividends and discontinued operations of $2.6 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2004 compared with $1.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. These earnings relate entirely to the financial institution
division. The 2003 results reflect our recording the impairment of the SLM note receivable during the second quarter of 2003, which resulted in
the $3.4 million expense during that period.

Income from Discontinued Operations. We had a loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax benefit, of $3.2 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2004 compared with income from discontinued operations of $765,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2003. There was no
income tax benefit in 2003. T his loss is primarily due to the reserves for collectibility issues associated with the sale of iBill to Media Billing.

Effects of Sale of Merchant Services Division on our Future Results of Operations

We anticipate that the sale of our merchant services business will continue to affect our future results of operations generally as follows:

� Reduced Revenues. Revenues for our merchant services division were $61.4 million for 2003, approximately 23.7% of our revenues.
Accordingly, we expect our revenues to be materially lower in 2004 than in 2003.

In reviewing our revenues for the quarter ended June 30, 2004 and future quarters, please note that in light of the sale of our merchant services
division, we have accounted for the operations of the merchant services business as discontinued operations for the quarters ended June 30, 2004
and 2003. Accordingly, the revenues of our merchant services division are not included in the revenues shown on the face of the condensed
consolidated statements of operations for the quarter and six months ended June 30, 2004 included in this report, and merchant services revenues
will not be included in revenues for comparable prior periods in our financial statements in the future.

� Reduction in Number of Employees and Associated Costs. Because the number of our employees has decreased from approximately
2,000 to approximately 1,700, our related costs will decrease materially.

� Reduced Exposure to Unanticipated Fines and Assessments. We have incurred substantial, and in many instances unanticipated, fines
and assessments from card associations and banks related to our merchant services operations. We will no longer incur those fines and
assessments based on our future business operations, although if at any time before September 19, 2004 iBill is assessed any fine,
assessment, or other charge by First Data or any credit card association that relates to iBill�s processing activities in any period prior to
our sale of iBill, then we will be obligated to indemnify iBill for those amounts.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
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Since our incorporation, we have financed our operations and capital expenditures through cash from operations, borrowings from banks and
sales of our common and preferred stock. In the second half of 2003, we enhanced our liquidity and capital resources by:

� obtaining a $60 million three-year credit facility from Bank of America,
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� issuing shares of Series A preferred stock for $10 million, and

� obtaining $12 million in lease financing from GE Capital.

As of July 25, 2004, the outstanding balance on our credit facility was $13.5 million. We have no off-balance sheet arrangements. We believe
that borrowings under our Bank of America facility, funds provided by operations and our GE Capital lease financing will be sufficient to meet
our anticipated capital expenditures and liquidity requirements for at least the next 12 months as well as the longer term.

As described above in Recent Events in this Item 2, on June 23, 2004, we entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of our Series A
preferred stock in order to modify the terms of our preferred stock. Under this agreement, the holders of the Series A preferred stock received
shares of a new class of Series B preferred stock in exchange for all of the outstanding Series A shares, which were cancelled. The modifications
to the preferred stock include the elimination of the preferred dividend (including all currently accrued dividends, which were $270,000). As a
result, we will no longer accrue or be obligated to pay dividends on the preferred stock.

As disclosed in considerable detail in our SEC reports since the April and May 2002 acquisitions of the businesses that comprised our merchant
services business, we incurred fines and assessments from credit card associations related to our processing of credit card transactions in
violation of various Visa and MasterCard rules, including fines for excessive charge-backs. Although we will no longer incur those fines and
assessments based on our future business operations, we have agreed that if at any time before September 19, 2004 iBill is assessed any fine,
assessment, or other charge by First Data or any credit card association that relates to iBill�s processing activities in any period prior to our sale of
iBill, then we will be obligated to indemnify iBill for those amounts. We cannot predict with certainty the amount of the fines for which we
would be required to indemnify the purchasers.

As part of the consideration for the sales of iBill and IPS, InterCept received several promissory notes that are due within a year of the closing of
the sale transactions. The proceeds of these notes will materially increase our liquidity. We received from Pay By Touch:

� a $15.5 million note originally due on September 20, 2004; and

� a one year $2.5 million note that is convertible at our option into Pay By Touch preferred stock valued (as of closing) at $2.5 million.

The $15.5 million Pay By Touch note was due and payable in two installments. The note provided that if Pay by Touch paid the first installment
of $3.0 million on or before the first installment date, May 21, 2004, the amount of principal remaining outstanding after the payment would be
deemed to be reduced by $3.0 million in addition to the $3,000,000 actually paid. Because Pay By Touch paid the first installment on May 21,
2004 as scheduled, the principal amount of the note was reduced by $6.0 million to a balance of $9.5 million. The remaining balance was due
and payable on September 20, 2004. Subsequently, on June 30, 2004, Pay By Touch paid us $5.03 million, which included $4.75 million of the
remaining principal balance and all accrued interest on the note. In consideration of that payment, we agreed to extend the maturity date of the
remaining principal balance of $4.75 million to December 31, 2004.

Also in connection with our sale of our merchant services division, we received a $793,749 note from Media Billing that matured on March 30,
2004 and is now in default. Media Billing also defaulted in its obligation to obtain a release of a $3.0 million letter of credit held by First Data
that we had obtained for the benefit of iBill. First Data subsequently drew on the letter of credit in full. In addition, the sale price of iBill was
subject to a final purchase price adjustment based on a determination of its working capital on the closing date. On June 18, 2004, according to
the terms of the purchase agreement, we notified Media Billing of an $827,000 purchase price adjustment in our favor. Consequently, Media
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Billing owes us more than $4.6 million that we are seeking to collect.

Cash and cash equivalents were $11.5 million at June 30, 2004. Short-term investments with a maturity of one year or less were $122,000 at
June 30, 2004. Net cash provided by operating activities was $328,000 and
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$7.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, and June 30, 2003, respectively. The decrease in the net cash provided by operating
activities was primarily attributable to the sale of our merchant services division.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $7.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2004, and net cash provided by investing activities
was $6.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The increase net cash provided by investing activities was primarily due to the sale of
our merchant services division, partially offset by decreases in purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $812,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2004, and net cash used in financing was $14.0
million for the six months ended June 30, 2003. The decrease in net cash used in financing activities was primarily due to the repayment of debt
with the proceeds from the maturity of several certificates of deposit during 2003.

Contractual Obligations

Please see the Contractual Obligations section of the Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in
our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 15, 2004 for a list of various contractual obligations. We have paid $11.5 million in principal on
our senior credit facility, reducing the balance to $13.5 million as of July 25, 2004. The capital lease obligations and operating lease obligations
have not changed materially since December 31, 2003.

Critical Accounting Policies

Management�s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial
statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting policies involve the most complex or subjective decisions or assessments and affect our more
significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements.

Income Tax Estimates

We evaluate our effective tax rates regularly and adjust rates when appropriate based on currently available information relative to statutory
rates, apportionment factors and the applicable taxable income in the jurisdictions in which we operate, among other factors. In addition, a large
portion of our deferred tax assets is due to net operating losses generated by the sale of the merchant services division. Recovery of that
impairment charge is dependent on the amount and timing of taxable income we will ultimately generate in the future, as well as other factors.
Based on our estimate of future taxable income, we believe we will eventually use these deferred tax assets, and accordingly we have not
recorded a valuation allowance.
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Recurring Revenues and Customer Reimbursements

For the quarter ended June 30, 2004, approximately 91% of our total revenues were recurring revenues. Recurring revenues result from regular
monthly, quarterly or annual payments by our customers for ongoing services they use in connection with their businesses and for transaction
processing of debit, ATM, credit and ACH transactions that occur under long-term agreements. These revenues do not include conversion or
de-conversion fees, initial software license fees, installation fees, hardware sales or similar activities. Because most of our customer contracts
require the payment of monthly charges and have original terms of three to five years, we have a high percentage of recurring revenues.
Customer reimbursements, which are not included in recurring revenues, reflect pass-through items, primarily postage, that we bill to our
customers.
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Contingencies

We record contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5. When a loss contingency exists under SFAS No. 5, the likelihood that the contingency
will result in the impairment of an asset or the incurrence of a liability must be identified as remote, reasonably possible or probable. The
identification as remote, reasonably possible or probable and whether the amount can be reasonably estimated determines whether the potential
loss is recorded in the financial statements or disclosed in the notes to the financial statements or both.

Allowance for doubtful accounts

We record an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of losses related to customer receivables balances. We develop estimates by
evaluating specific customer accounts for risk of loss as well as historical credit memo data and other known factors for billing disputes that
arise in the normal course of business.

Fair Value of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed in Purchase Combinations

We review the value assigned to goodwill on an annual basis, or on an interim basis if circumstances change that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of our reporting units below the carrying amounts. We also review our long-lived assets, including intangible assets subject
to amortization, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. An impairment is recognized when the undiscounted future cash flows estimated to be generated by the asset are not sufficient to
recover the unamortized balance of the asset. An impairment loss would be recognized based on the difference between the carrying value and
estimated fair value. The estimated fair value will be determined based on either the discounted future cash flows or other appropriate fair value
methods, with the amount of any such deficiency charged to income in the current year. Estimates of future cash flows are based on many
factors, including current operating results, management�s plans with respect to operations, expected market trends and competitive influences.
We also evaluate the amortization periods assigned to intangible assets to determine whether events or changes in circumstances warrant revised
estimates of useful lives. In the fourth quarter of 2002 and the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded impairment losses of $20.0 million and
$130.7 million, respectively, related to our intangibles. We did not record an impairment loss for the three or six months ended June 30, 2004.

Indemnification Obligations

In connection with the sale of iBill and IPS, we agreed to indemnify the purchasers of iBill and IPS for general indemnification claims related to
any breaches of representations, warranties or covenants under the purchase agreements. The maximum amount of indemnification under these
provisions is $5 million under the iBill agreement and $2 million under the IPS agreement, and these provisions expire 12 months after the
closing date of each transaction. We do not believe that the fair value of those indemnification obligations will be material to the financial
statements.

Also in connection with the sale of iBill, we agreed to indemnify Media Billing, LLC, the purchaser of iBill, for certain liabilities associated
with pre-closing activities, and we will remain subject to those risks to some degree. Specifically, if at any time before September 19, 2004 iBill
is assessed any fine, assessment or other charge from First Data or any credit card association that relates to iBill�s processing activities in any
period prior to our sale of iBill, then we will be obligated to indemnify iBill for those amounts. In addition, we agreed to provide indemnification
to the purchasers of iBill and IPS for liabilities incurred in connection with certain identified litigation matters that existed at the time of the
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acquisitions. The indemnification obligations extend until March 22, 2005. The amounts of any such indemnification cannot be determined at
this time, and large liabilities resulting from such indemnification could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. We have assessed
the fair value of these indemnification obligations under SFAS No. 5 and have established an accrual of approximately $2.1 million for these
liabilities.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We do not use derivative financial instruments in our operations or investments and do not have significant operations subject to fluctuations in
foreign currency rates. Borrowings under our senior credit facility accrue
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interest at LIBOR plus a tiered scale ranging from 225 to 275 basis points, depending on our consolidated leverage ratio, as defined in the credit
agreement. We are currently paying interest at a rate of 3.85% per annum. As of July 25, 2004, $13.5 million was outstanding under this facility.
Changes in interest rates that increase the interest rate on the credit facility would make it more costly to borrow under that facility and may
impede our acquisition and growth strategies if we determine that the costs associated with borrowing funds are too high to implement these
strategies. Changes in interest rates that increase the interest rate by 1.0% would increase our interest expense by approximately $135,000 per
year.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

As of June 30, 2004, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and principal accounting officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as
defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e). Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and principal accounting officer have
concluded that our current disclosure controls and procedures are effective as of June 30, 2004.

There were no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended June 30, 2004 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

The design of any system of controls and procedures is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events. There can
be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions, regardless of how remote.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Other than as described below, we are not a party to, and none of our material properties is subject to, any material litigation other than routine
litigation incidental to our business.

(1) InterCept, two of its officers � John W. Collins and G. Lynn Boggs � and two former officers, Scott R. Meyerhoff and Garrett M. Bender were
named as defendants in a shareholder class action lawsuit filed in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia filed on March 3,
2003 (Civil Action No. 03-CV0567). The plaintiff sought to represent a class of individuals who purchased InterCept common stock between
September 16, 2002 and January 9, 2003. The plaintiff alleged that InterCept and the individual defendants made material misrepresentations
and/or omitted to make material disclosures throughout the class period due to their false assurances that the adult entertainment portion of the
company�s merchant services business was insignificant and their failure to disclose the impact of the implementation of new Visa regulations in
November 2002. The plaintiff alleged violations of Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, Rule 10b-5 promulgated under Section
10(b), and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Other plaintiffs filed similar actions, and on May 2, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a motion to
consolidate their claims. On June 23, 2003, the court denied the plaintiffs� motions to consolidate. On July 11, 2003, the plaintiffs filed a new
motion for consolidation.
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On April 29, 2004, InterCept and the plaintiffs entered into a Stipulation and Agreement of Settlement. Under the terms of the settlement
agreement, InterCept and its insurance carrier will pay $5.3 million to the plaintiffs and their counsel. InterCept will fund $3.95 million and its
insurance carrier will fund $1.35 million of the proposed settlement. These amounts have been placed into escrow pending settlement of the
case. On April 29, 2004, the court entered an order that consolidated all of the cases, certified the class for settlement purposes, and preliminarily
approved the settlement agreement. Settlement materials have been distributed to potential members of the class and a final settlement hearing is
scheduled for August 6, 2004. Upon final approval of the settlement, the pending claims against InterCept and the individual defendants will be
dismissed without any admission of liability or wrongdoing.

(2) In connection with the sale of iBill and InterCept Payment Solutions, we agreed to indemnify the
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purchasers of those businesses for liabilities arising in connection with certain identified litigation matters that were outstanding at the time of
closing. Although InterCept is not a party to the matters, our indemnification obligation could result in a significant liability if one of those
lawsuits results in an unfavorable outcome. A description of the proceedings for which we have agreed to provide indemnification is described
in Note 9 to our unaudited financial statements included in this report.

Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds

We did not modify, limit, or qualify the rights of the holders of common stock during the three months ended June 30, 2004.

On September 16, 2003, we sold 100,000 shares of Series A preferred stock to the Sprout Group and related entities for $10,000,000. On June
23, 2004, we entered into an exchange agreement with the holders of the Series A preferred stock to modify the terms of our preferred stock.
Under this agreement, the holders of the Series A preferred stock received shares of a new class of Series B preferred stock in exchange for all of
the outstanding Series A shares, which were cancelled.

The issuance of the Series B preferred stock was exempt from registration both (a) as a private placement under section 4(2) of the Securities
Act of 1933 (the �1933 Act�), and (b) as a security exchanged under Section 3(a)(9) of the 1933 Act by the issuer with its existing security holders
exclusively where no commission or other remuneration is paid or given directly or indirectly for soliciting such exchange. The Series B
preferred stock is deemed to be restricted securities for purposes of the 1933 Act. We affixed appropriate legends to the share certificates we
issued in these transactions. The recipients of these securities are institutional investors who were represented by counsel and had adequate
access to information about us through their relationship with us.

The Series B preferred stock is convertible into our common stock at a fixed price of $10.50 per share at the holder�s option at any time after the
earliest of:

� the date as of which the closing bid price of our common stock shall have been equal to or greater than $18.90 per share for at
least 10 consecutive trading days;

� September 16, 2008; and

� five business days prior to:

� a liquidation of InterCept or

� any merger, acquisition or other change in control of InterCept in a transaction or series of transactions, approved by the
majority of the board or

� the sale of all or substantially all of InterCept�s assets in a transaction approved by the majority of the board.
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The Series B preferred stock votes on an as-converted-to-common basis. Because the conversion price is lower than the conversion price of the
Series A preferred stock that preceded it, the number of votes to which the Series B preferred stock is entitled increased from 715,820 to
952,381.

The Series B preferred stock also contains various protective provisions. The consent of the holders of more than 50% of the outstanding shares
of Series B preferred stock is required for any action that:

� alters or changes or adversely affects the rights, preferences or privileges of the Series B preferred stock;

� authorizes or issues shares of any class or series of stock having any rights, preferences or privileges senior to or on parity with
the Series B preferred stock;

� authorizes or results in a merger, share exchange, other corporate reorganization, sale of control of the company, or any other
transaction in which all or substantially all of the assets of the company are sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of, or a
substantial portion of its assets are licensed unless such transaction results in consideration per share of Series B preferred stock
of at least $18.90 on an as converted basis and is approved by a majority of the company�s directors (the holders of the Series B
preferred stock agree to vote their shares against any merger or other event described in this bullet point that is not approved by a
majority of the directors of the company);
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� any action, not approved by a majority of the directors, that

� amends or repeals any provision of the articles of incorporation or bylaws,

� permits any subsidiary of the company to sell or issue any of its capital stock or any right to acquire any of its capital
stock to any party other than the company,

� changes the size of the company�s board of directors,

� increases the size of the pool of stock available for options to officers, directors, employees, consultants or others, (other
than pursuant to option plans and the stock purchase plan currently in effect),

� results in any investments in or loans to any other entity in an amount greater than $5 million in the aggregate, or

� changes the nature of the company�s business.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

On June 24, 2004, InterCept�s Chief Executive Officer, John W. Collins, acting under our bylaws in his capacity as the chairman, convened our
annual meeting of shareholders and then immediately adjourned it until September 14, 2004, when it will be reconvened at 9:00 a.m. at the
company�s offices. No vote of shareholders was taken at the meeting.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K.
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Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of InterCept, Inc., as amended, which includes: (1) the amendment designating the rights
and preferences of InterCept�s Series B Preferred Stock, filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on June 23, 2004
(previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to InterCept�s�s Form 8-K filed on June 25, 2004).

3.2 Bylaws of InterCept, Inc., as amended, which includes the amendment to Section 3.4 adopted on April 14, 2004.

10.1 Exchange Agreement dated June 23, 2004 by and between InterCept, Inc., on one hand, and the investors named
therein, on the other hand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant�s Form 8-K filed on June 25,
2004)

10.2 Amendment to Registration Rights Agreement dated June 23, 2004 by and between InterCept, Inc., on one hand,
and the investors named therein, on the other hand (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant�s Form
8-K filed on June 25, 2004)
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31 Certifications of John W. Collins and Carole M. Collins pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certifications of John W. Collins and Carole M. Collins pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This
exhibit is not �filed� for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 but is instead furnished as provided
by applicable rules of the SEC.

99.1 Settlement Agreement by and between InterCept, Inc., on the one hand, and JANA Partners, LLC and JANA Master Fund,
Ltd., on the other hand, dated June 11, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Registrant�s Form 8-K filed on
June 14, 2004).

(b) Reports on Form 8-K filed during the three months ended June 30, 2003:

Form 8-K dated April 14, 2004, filed on April 16, 2004, reporting under Item 5 the litigation with JANA Partners and the adoption of a bylaw
amendment.

Form 8-K dated March 16, 2004, filed April 16, 2004, reporting under Item 12 InterCept�s earnings for the three and twelve months ended
December 31, 2003.

Form 8-K dated April 28, 2004, filed on April 30, 2004, reporting under Items 5 and 7 the results of a hearing in the litigation with JANA
Partners and attaching a related press release.

Form 8-K dated May 6, 2004, filed on May 7, 2004, reporting under Items 7 a letter sent by InterCept to Media Billing regarding its failure to
comply with its contractual obligations to InterCept.

Form 8-K dated May 20, 2004, filed on May 21, 2004, reporting under Item 5 a settlement made by InterCept�s board of directors to JANA
Partners.

Form 8-K dated May 21, 2004, filed on May 25, 2004, reporting under Item 5 an agreement in principle with Sprout Group to modify the terms
of InterCept�s shares of preferred stock and announcing the receipt of a $3 million prepayment from Pay By Touch.

Amendment No. 1 to Form 8-K dated March 22, 2004, filed on June 7, 2004, enclosing pro forma financial information for the sale of InterCept
Payment Solutions.

Form 8-K dated June 11, 2004, filed on June 14, 2004, reporting under Item 5 the board�s decision to explore strategic alternatives to enhance
shareholder value, the hiring of an investment banker and the settlement of the dispute with JANA Partners.
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Form 8-K dated June 23, 2004, filed on June 25, 2004, reporting under Item 5 a press release that announced the adjournment of its annual
shareholders meeting to September 14, 2004; the expansion of its board of directors from six to nine directors and the election of three new
directors; and the closing of the previously announced agreement in principle with Sprout Group to modify the terms of the $10 million in
preferred stock purchased by Sprout in September 2003.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

INTERCEPT, INC.

August 3, 2004
/s/ John W. Collins

Date John W. Collins
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

August 3, 2004
/s/ Carole M. Collins

Date Carole M. Collins
Treasurer
(principal accounting officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of InterCept, Inc., as amended, which includes: (1) the amendment designating the rights and preferences
of InterCept�s Series B Preferred Stock, filed with the Georgia Secretary of State on June 23, 2004.

3.2 Bylaws of Intercept, Inc., as amended, which includes the amendment to Section 3.4 adopted on April 14, 2004.

31 Certifications of John W. Collins and Carole M. Collins pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002.

32 Certifications of John W. Collins and Carole M. Collins pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. This exhibit
is not �filed� for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 but is instead furnished as provided by applicable
rules of the SEC.
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